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Allie Dunn

From: Allie Dunn
Sent: Tuesday, 9 December 2025 10:53 am
To:
Subject: Response to transfer of information request re Fluoride Supply Chain
Attachments: Response-to-request-for-information-re-fluoride_Redacted.pdf

Kia ora 

I refer to your oƯicial information request to the Ministry of Health who have transferred questions 4, 11 and 12 
to our agency for response.  

Our responses are outlined below.  

Question 4: “Provide all Safety Data Sheets (SDS), production records, and toxicology studies related to the 
fluoride chemicals supplied” 

Please refer to the attached response to a similar request for information responded to by our agency on 8 July 
2024, which includes the Safety Data Sheet applicable to the fluoridation of the Dannevirke Water Supply.  

Questions 11 and 12: “Identify all contractors, consultants, and water treatment personnel who handle, dose, 
or monitor fluoride chemicals. Provide full contract details, including terms of service, duration, performance 
bonds, insurance coverage, and any professional certifications required.” 

We have considered your request for supply of information that could personally identify people whose roles 
involve working with fluoride chemicals, including their contract details and professional certification.   In 
considering your request for supply of this information, we have carefully weighed up whether there would be 
any public benefit to providing this level of personal information against the Council’s obligation as an 
employer and holder of this information to protect personal information under the Privacy Act 2020.  We also 
looked into whether the information requested is subject to an obligation of confidence, and decided that this 
is confidential information that the Council is obligated to protect.  

For these reasons, we decline to provide information requested under questions 11 and 12, under section 
7(2)(c)(i) in order to protect information that is subject to an obligation of confidence where the making 
available of the information would be likely to prejudice the supply of similar information.  We are also 
withholding supply of this information in order to comply with Information Privacy Principle 11 of the Privacy 
Act 2020, which limits the disclosure of personal information to any third party unless the agency believes 
there are reasonable grounds to do so.  In reviewing the grounds for disclosure specified in Privacy Principle 11 
of the Privacy Act 2020, none of the specified grounds apply in this instance.  

You have the right to seek an investigation and review by the Ombudsman of this decision. Information about 
how to make a complaint is available at www.ombudsman.parliament.nz or freephone 0800 802 602. 

Ngā mihi 

 
 

    

Allie Dunn | Manager Democracy Services | Deputy Electoral Officer 
Democracy Services | Tararua District Council 

 

 

Phone: +64 6 3744080 | Mobile: +64 27 3331626 
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Allie.Dunn@Tararuadc.govt.nz 

 

26 Gordon Street, Dannevirke 4930, PO Box 115 

 

www.tararuadc.govt.nz 

 

www.facebook.com/tararuadc 

      
 

www.instagram.com/tararuadistrictcouncil  

    
 

www.linkedin.com/company/tararua-district-council 

  

  
  

This email and any aƩachments are intended for the above named recipient only and may be confidenƟal. 

If you have received it in error, please take no acƟon based on it, copy it, or show it to anyone. 

Please return to the sender and delete your copy. Thank you. 
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To:
Subject: Response to request for information re fluoride
Date: Monday, 8 July 2024 4:00:00 pm
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102 other 102.13 dannevirke water supply fluoridation - moh direction letter tararua(d23 35908).pdf
hfa-safety-data-sheet.pdf

Kia ora
I refer to your official information request dated 7 July 2024 for information relating to the
fluoridation of drinking water by the Tararua District Council.
The information you have requested follows.
Is your council adding fluoride to the water supply YES/NO – not currently.  However our Council
has been directed by the Director General of Health to fluoridate the drinking water supply for
the township of Dannevirke.  The plant is currently under construction, with finalisation due 30
September 2024.
What is the LEGAL name of the company that makes it? The product will be supplied by Ixom
Operations Pty Ltd. We do not have the name of the manufacturer of the product.
What is the specific CHEMICAL name of the product that is added ? HFA (Hydrofluorosilicic Acid)
Please provide an email copy of the MSDS of the product being used.  Please see attached Safety
Data Sheet.
How many PPM are added to the water and how often are they added? Fluoridation of the
Dannevirke drinking water supply has not yet started, however when it does, we have to follow
the Water New Zealand Code of Practice for Fluoridation of Drinking Water Supplies in NZ (2014)
and the Good Practice Guide for Fluoridation of Drinking Water (2023).  This requires HFA to be
added to constantly maintain a content of 0.7 to 1.0 mg/L
What is the name of the person in charge of/who signs off the Water treatment in your area? 
Under section 7(2)(a) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987, we
are withholding names of employees (protection of privacy).  However, fluoridation of the water
supply is undertaken in accordance with the directive received under Sections 116C to 116J of
the Health Act 1956, a copy of which is attached.
A picture of the bag would be great too please if possible. We are not able to provide you with a
picture of a bag, as we do not hold such information.  Therefore we decline this part of your
request under section 17(e) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act
1987.  Note that when fluoridation of the water supply does start, the product will not be
supplied in a bag. The product will be added via an automated containerised dosing unit.
Therefore it will not be possible to provide a picture of a bag at a future stage.
You have the right to seek an investigation and review by the Ombudsman of this decision.
Information about how to make a complaint is available at www.ombudsman.parliament.nz or
freephone 0800 802 602.
Ng  mihi
 
 
 

Allie Dunn | Manager - Democracy Services

Strategy & Community Wellbeing - Democracy Services | Tararua
District Council





 EXTERNAL EMAIL ALERT: Caution advised. This message is from an external sender. Verify the
sender's identity and use caution with attachments and links.

 

To whom it may concern,
 
Please find below - a copy of an email from me to the Dunedin City Council requesting
information on the type of fluoride added to our water supply.

I am requesting under the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act
1987 (LGOIMA) a copy of the same information from your council please.
Is your council adding fluoride to the water supply YES/NO

What is the LEGAL name of the company that makes it?
What is the specific CHEMICAL name of the product that is added ?
Please provide an email copy of the MSDS of the product being used. 
How many PPM are added to the water and how often are they added?
What is the name of the person in charge of/who signs off the Water treatment in your
area?
AND
A picture of the bag would be great too please if possible. 
 
Thank-You
Kind Regards

Dunedin
 
 
 
 
 
From: 
Sent: Friday, 2 July 2021 8:15 a.m.
To:
Subject: LGOIMA requesting the exact fluoride product added to the water supply
 
Kia ora 
 
I am writing in response to your Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act
1987 (LGOIMA) request of 11 June 2021, for ease of reference a copy your request is
below.
 
The exact fluoride product added to the water supply is Sodium Silico Fluoride (scientific
name) and the manufacturer is Shimonoseki Mitsui Chemical Inc.



 
As requested please find attached photos of the front and back of a bag, fluoride is added
continuously to the metro water supply via the Mt Grand and Southern Water Treatment
Plants at the rate of 0.75 grams per 1000L.
 
I trust this answers your request.
 
K  mihi
 
 

GOVERNANCE SUPPORT OFFICER
CIVIC              

     
Dunedin City Council, 50 The Octagon, Dunedin
PO Box 5045, Dunedin 9054
New Zealand
www.dunedin.govt.nz
 



 

133 Molesworth Street 
PO Box 5013 
Wellington 6140 
New Zealand 
T+64 4 496 2000 

27 July 2022

Bryan Nicholson
Chief Executive
Tararua District Council 
Bryan.nicholson@tararuadc.govt.nz

Mr Nicholson

Decision in relation to fluoridation direction 

Thank you for responding to my letter of 3 May 2022. I have considered the information 
you have provided, alongside further information I am required to consider under 
section 116E of the Health Act 1956 (the Act). I have also received and considered 
advice from the Director of Public Health.

Informed by the matters I am required to consider, I have decided to exercise my 
statutory powers under section 116E of the Act to direct you to fluoridate the Dannevirke
drinking water supply in your region. 

In accordance with section 116I of the Act, you are required to ensure that by 30 June 
2024 you are fluoridating at the optimal levels (between 0.7ppm to 1ppm, parts per 
million) at the Dannevirke supply. Contravening these requirements, or permitting these 
requirements to be contravened, constitutes an offence under section 116J of the Act.

Fluoridation of the Dannevirke drinking water supply is an important step in improving 
the oral health of your community, and it
Ministry of Health) will work constructively with you to implement these important 
changes.

In reaching my decision to issue this direction to you, I considered the scientific 
evidence on the effectiveness of adding fluoride to drinking water in reducing the 
prevalence and severity of dental decay. I am satisfied that community water 
fluoridation is a safe and effective public health measure that significantly reduces the 
prevalence and severity of dental decay. In reaching this conclusion, I considered: 
Water fluoridation to prevent tooth decay (Cochrane Collaboration 2015), Health effects 
of water fluoridation: A review of the scientific evidence (PMCSA and Royal Society Te 

) and Fluoridation: An update on evidence (PMCSA 2021).

In reaching my decision, I also considered whether the benefits of adding fluoride to the 
drinking water outweigh the financial costs, taking into account: the state or likely state 
of the oral health of your community served by the Dannevirke supply; the number of 
people who are reasonably likely to receive drinking water from this supply; and the 
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likely financial cost and savings of adding fluoride to the drinking water of this supply, 
including any additional financial costs of ongoing management and monitoring.

I am satisfied that the benefits of introducing community water fluoridation across the 
Dannevirke drinking water supply outweigh the financial costs of doing so. In reaching 
this conclusion, I gave weight to the following:

the Tararua community would receive significant benefit, through improvement 
to the state of its oral health, because fluoridation of the drinking water supply 
would significantly reduce the prevalence and severity of dental decay in its 
community

approximately 6,000 people are reasonably likely to receive drinking water from 
the Dannevirke supply

the likely financial cost and savings of adding fluoride to drinking water for the 
Dannevirke supply, including any additional financial costs of ongoing 
management and monitoring.

My decision-making process included inviting written comment from Tararua District 
Council and having regard to the comments I received. Below I summarise and respond 
to the comments I received:

the estimated capital cost of introducing fluoridation for the Dannevirke supply is 
$318,850. Ongoing management and monitoring costs were not specified at this 
time.

the date by which Tararua District Council would be able to comply with a 
direction for the Dannevirke drinking water supply is 30 June 2024.

As part of considering whether to issue a direction to fluoridate, I considered the cost 
estimates you provided. I also accept the date you specified by which you could comply 
with a direction for the Dannevirke drinking water supply. This date is reflected in the 
compliance date stated earlier in this letter. 

Appendix 1 presents a more extensive summary of the information that informed my 
decision-making, including the advice I received and considered from the Director of 
Public Health.

Funding

that have 
been issued a direction to fluoridate, and that begin work to fluoridate drinking water 
supplies by the end of 2022. It will shortly provide detailed information about the 
application process for this funding to cover fluoridation-related capital costs. 

a national level. 
Please note too, that as required under section 116E(5) of the Act, all direction letters 
will be published on the website in due course.

































Revision Number 7
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000000015539 - HYDROFLUOROSILICIC ACID Revision date: 06-Jun-2023

Key literature references and sources for data used to compile the SDS  
Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR)  
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ChemView Database  
European Food Safety Authority (EFSA)
EPA (Environmental Protection Agency)
Acute Exposure Guideline Level(s) (AEGL(s))
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act  
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency High Production Volume Chemicals  
Food Research Journal
Hazardous Substance Database
International Uniform Chemical Information Database (IUCLID)
Japan GHS Classification
Australian Industrial Chemicals Introduction Scheme (AICIS)
NIOSH (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health)
National Library of Medicine's ChemID Plus (NLM CIP)  
National Library of Medicine's PubMed database (NLM PUBMED)  
National Toxicology Program (NTP)  
New Zealand's Chemical Classification and Information Database (CCID)  
Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Environment, Health, and Safety Publications  
Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development High Production Volume Chemicals Program  
Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Screening Information Data Set  
RTECS (Registry of Toxic Effects of Chemical Substances)  
World Health Organization

Disclaimer
This SDS summarises to our best knowledge at the date of issue, the chemical health and safety hazards of the material 
and general guidance on how to safely handle the material in the workplace.  Since Ixom Operations Pty Ltd cannot 
anticipate or control the conditions under which the product may be used, each user must, prior to usage, assess and 
control the risks arising from its use of the material.

If clarification or further information is needed, the user should contact their Ixom representative or Ixom Operations Pty 
Ltd at the contact details on page 1.

Ixom Operations Pty Ltd's responsibility for the material as sold is subject to the terms and conditions of sale, a copy of 
which is available upon request.

End of Safety Data Sheet

TWA TWA (time-weighted average) STEL STEL (Short Term Exposure Limit)  
Ceiling Maximum limit value * Skin designation
C Carcinogen

_____________________________________________________________________________________________
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For Auckland Council, please refer to Watercare Services Limited who can address 
questions 3, 5, 17, and 18. 
 
Watercare Services Limited can be contacted at: LGOIMARequests@water.co.nz 
If you wish to make a further request or seek additional information from Auckland council, they 
can be contacted at: officialinformation@aucklandcouncil.govt.nz. 
 
 
Dunedin City Council – questions 1,3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 16, 17, 18 & 21. 
They can be contacted at: officialinformation@dcc.govt.nz.  
 
 
Gisborne District Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
information they hold once transfer of your request has been completed. Some parts of your 
request may be refused, on the grounds that there no information in scope, once the council 
has carried out their assessment. Additionally, the council will assess if your request may incur 
a fee for substantial collation and research. 
 
They can be contacted at: officialinformation@gdc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Hamilton City Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
 
They can be contacted at:  officialinformation@hcc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Horowhenua District Council – questions 3, 5,16, 17, and 18. 
They can be contacted at: LGOIMAOfficer@horowhenua.govt.nz. 
 
 
Invercargill City Council – questions 3 & 18. 
They can be contacted at: customer.service@icc.govt.nz / communications@icc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Kapiti District Council – questions 3, 5,15, 16, 17 and 18. 
They can be contacted at: informationrequest@kapiticoast.govt.nz. 
 
 
Kawerau District Council – questions 4, 8, 9, 11, 16 & 17. 
They can be contacted at: office@kaweraudc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Manawatu District Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
 
They can be contacted at: lgoima@mdc.govt.nz. 
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Masterton District Council – questions 3, 4, 11, 14, 16 and 18. 
They can be contacted at: mdc@mstn.govt.nz. 
 
 
Nelson City Council – questions 3 (in relation to q 5), 5, 11, 12, 14, 16, 17 & 18. 
They can be contacted at: LGOIMA@ncc.govt.nz. 
 
 
New Plymouth District Council – questions 3, 4, 8, 11, 12, 16, 17 & 18. 
They can be contacted at: enquiries@npdc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Palmerston North City Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
They can be contacted at: info@pncc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Rotorua Lakes Council – questions 3, 5, 11, 16, 17 & 18. 
They can be contacted at: info@rotorualc.nz. 
 
 
South Taranaki District Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
They can be contacted at: privacyofficer@stdc.govt.nz / contact@stdc.govt.nz. 
 
 
South Waikato District Council – questions 3, 4, 5, 8, 11, 14, 16, 17 & 18. 
They can be contacted at:  info@southwaikato.govt.nz. 
 
 
Stratford District Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
They can be contacted at: lgoima@stratford.govt.nz. 
 
 
Tararua District Council – questions 4, 11 & 12.  
They can be contacted at: info@tararuadc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Taupo District Council – questions 1, 3, 4, 11, 17 & 18. 
They can be contacted at: info@taupo.govt.nz. 
 
 
Tauranga City Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
 
They can be contacted at: information.requests@tauranga.govt.nz. 
 
 
Thames-Coromandel District Council – questions 3, 5, 11, 12 16, 17 & 18. 
They can be contacted at: customer.services@tcdc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Waikato District Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
They can be contacted at: info@waidc.govt.nz / media@waidc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Waipa District Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will assess what 
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
 
They can be contacted at: officialinformation@waipadc.govt.nz. 
 
 
Waitaki District Council – questions 3, 4, 8, 11 & 17. 
They can be contacted at: service@waitaki.govt.nz. 
 
 
For Wellington councils, please refer to Wellington Water – questions 1, 11 and 12. They 
noted the following: 
 

You may wish to refer the requestor to the Wellington Water website that provides specific 
information about its use of Fl compounds in its reticulated potable water network: 
https://www.wellingtonwater.co.nz/your-water-2/topic/drinking-water/whats-in-your-
water/monitoring-fluoride-levels-at-water-treatment-plants. 
 
Wellington Water Limited also publishes its LGOIMA responses on its website, including 
ones related to Fluoride:https://www.wellingtonwater.co.nz/publications/official-
requests/official-information-act-responses. 

 
They can be contacted at official.information@wellingtonwater.co.nz. 
 
 
 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council – all parts of your request. Please note they will 
assess what information they hold once transfer of your request has been completed. Some 
parts of your request may be refused, on the grounds that there no information in scope, once 
the council has carried out their assessment. Additionally, the council will assess if your request 
may incur a fee for substantial collation and research. 
They can be contacted at: info@westernbay.govt.nz. 
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COPY OF OIA REQUEST 
 
 
From:        > 
Sent on:     Saturday, October 25, 2025 11:51:13 PM 
To:          OIA/LGOIMA requests at Ministry of Health <oiagr@moh.govt.nz> 
Subject:     Official Information request - Fluoride Supply Chain Information 
 
 
Dear Ministry of Health, 
Request under the Official Information Act 1982 (OIA) 
Pursuant to the Official Information Act 1982 (OIA), I am writing to request full access to all official 
information held by the Ministry of Health relating to: 
 
FLUORIDE SUPPLY CHAIN 
1. Authority & Purpose 
This request is made to obtain complete disclosure of all aspects of fluoride chemicals used in public 
water supplies in New Zealand inclusing all [District/Region]. The purpose is to identify all suppliers, 
transporters, contractors, decision-makers, environmental oversight, and safety compliance, leaving no 
element undisclosed. 
2. Information Requested 
A. Supply & Production 
1. Identify the factory/facility where the fluoride chemicals supplied to New Zealand water systems are 
produced, including location, operator, and production process. Include all applicable laws, regulations, 
licenses, and international standards governing manufacture. 
2. Identify all upstream raw material suppliers, including chemical sources such as phosphate rock 
suppliers, and any subcontracted labs or blending facilities. 
3. Provide the full chemical composition, including chemical names, chemical formulae, and 
concentrations of all fluoride compounds added to the public water supply. 
4. Provide all Safety Data Sheets (SDS), production records, and toxicology studies related to the fluoride 
chemicals supplied. 
5. Provide details of any chemical by-products, waste, or residues generated during production, storage, 
transport, or dosing, including their environmental and human health impacts. 
6. Disclose all corporate entities, owners, and shareholders that profit from the manufacture or sale of 
fluoride chemicals in New Zealand. 
7. Clarify whether New Zealand currently manufactures fluoride chemicals domestically, imports ready-
made fluoride chemicals, or both, including details of manufacturers and import sources. 
B. Transport & Logistics 
8. List all companies involved in transporting fluoride chemicals from production sites to distributors, 
councils, and water treatment facilities. Include freight, shipping, and air transport entities. 
9. Provide shipping manifests, including transport schedules, storage conditions, and handling protocols 
(personal driver details may be redacted). 
10. Include all applicable laws, licenses, and regulatory frameworks under which these transporters 
operate, particularly regarding hazardous substances. 
C. Contractors & Distribution 
11. Identify all contractors, consultants, and water treatment personnel who handle, dose, or monitor 
fluoride chemicals. 
12. Provide full contract details, including terms of service, duration, performance bonds, insurance 
coverage, and any professional certifications required. 
13. Disclose all corporate structures, shareholders, and profit arrangements related to these contractors. 
D. Policy & Decision-Makers 
14. List all individuals, boards, committees, and advisers who approve or recommend fluoride use in New 
Zealand, including councils, Ministry of Health, and public health associations. 
15. Include all corporate affiliations, financial interests, and advisory bodies that influence decisions 
regarding fluoride. 
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E. Compliance, Oversight & Safety 
16. Provide copies of all risk assessments, environmental impact statements, monitoring reports, and 
internal or external evaluations regarding fluoride safety, dosing, and public health. 
17. Provide documentation of regulatory compliance, inspections, or audits by government or third-party 
authorities. 
18. Disclose any incidents, complaints, or breaches relating to fluoride chemical safety, handling, or 
dosing. 
F. Global Precedents & Case Studies 
19. Provide documented information on countries that have ceased or restricted water fluoridation, 
including Germany, Sweden, Japan, Netherlands, Finland, Israel, Hungary, and the United States (Utah). 
20. Include international case law, peer-reviewed studies, legal decisions, or environmental assessments 
showing health or environmental risks, chemical by-products, or public health outcomes linked to 
fluoride. 
21. Provide references to any policy or scientific evidence considered when approving or maintaining 
fluoridation in New Zealand 
 
Thankypu 

 
 




